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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 
______________________________________ 
The National Post Office Collaborate,  : Case No. 3:13CV1406 (JBA) 
Center for Art and Mindfulness, Inc.,   : 
formerly known as the Lower    : 
Fairfield Art Center, Inc., and    : 
Kaysay H. Abrha, an Individual,   : 
   Plaintiffs   : 
v.       : 
       : 
Patrick R. Donahoe, Postmaster    : 
General of the United States Postal    : 
Service, and The United States    : 
Postal Service      : 
   Defendants.   :  
______________________________________ : 
 
 

PARTIES’ RULE 26(f) REPORT 
 

Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 16(b) and 26(f), and D. Conn. L. Civ. R. 16, 

a conference was held on November 5, 2013.  The participants were: Lawrence Grossman, 

Zeisler & Zeisler, P.C. for Plaintiffs; Harold Hughes and Michelle Bushman, Ford & Huff, LC, 

for Plaintiffs; Ann M. Nevins, United States Attorney’s Office, AUSA, for Defendants; Brenda 

M. Green, United States Attorney’s Office, AUSA, for Defendants; and Kristofor Swanson, 

Department of Justice, Trial Attorney, for Defendants. 

As initial matter, Defendants Patrick R. Donahoe and the United States Postal Service 

(collectively, “Postal Service”) note that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(f)(1) and D. Conn. 

L. Civ. R. 26(f)(3) exempt Counts One and Two in Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint from the 

reporting requirements in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(f) because those claims will be 

reviewed on the Postal Service’s administrative record.  See Chelsea Neighborhood Ass’ns v. 
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U.S. Postal Serv., 516 F.2d 378, 387 n.2 (2d Cir. 1975).  The parties nonetheless submit the 

following report at the Court’s request and with respect to the remaining three counts. 

I. Certification 
 

Undersigned counsel certify that, after consultation with their clients, they have discussed 

the nature and basis of the parties' claims and defenses and any possibilities for achieving a 

prompt settlement or other resolution of the case and, in consultation with their clients, have 

developed the following proposed case management plan.  Counsel further certify that they have 

forwarded a copy of this report to their clients. 

II. Jurisdiction 
 
 Plaintiffs allege that the Court has jurisdiction under 39 U.S.C. §§ 403(c), 39 U.S.C. § 

409, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 1367, and 28 U.S.C. § 2201.  The Postal Service does not 

believe the Court has jurisdiction to hear Counts Two, Four, and Five given the limitations 

Congress has put on judicial review of the Postal Service’s actions.  See 39 U.S.C. § 3662(a); 39 

U.S.C. § 404(d)(5); 39 U.S.C. § 409(a); 39 U.S.C. § 410(a).  The Postal Service further believes 

that Plaintiffs will be unable to meet their burden to demonstrate Article III standing for Counts 

One and Two. 

III. Brief Description of Case 
 

This case involves the Postal Service’s decision to dispose of (through sale) the Atlantic 

Street Station in Stamford, Connecticut, formerly the Stamford Post Office.  Plaintiffs’ Amended 

Complaint (ECF No. 26) alleges fives causes of action.  Count One alleges that the Postal 

Service is acting in violation of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 

55–65).  Count Two alleges the Postal Service is acting in violation of the National Historic 

Preservation Act (NHPA) (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 66–69).  Count Three alleges the proposed sale of the 
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Atlantic Street Station violates the “Public Trust Doctrine” (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 70–77).  Count Four 

alleges that the Postal Service violated 39 U.S.C. § 403(c), a statute requiring among other things 

that the Postal Service be non-discriminatory in providing “services” (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 78–87).  

And Count Five alleges that the Atlantic Street Station has been “closed or consolidated” in 

violation of 39 U.S.C. § 404(d) (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 88–104).  Plaintiffs seek (1) an injunction 

preventing the sale of the Atlantic Street Station until the Postal Service has complied with 

NEPA, NHPA, and the Public Trust Doctrine; (2) an injunction preventing “unreasonable 

discrimination” against Plaintiff Center for Art and Mindfulness and requiring the Postal Service 

to give the Center “a full and fair opportunity” to purchase the Atlantic Street Station; and (3) 

declaratory judgment and an injunction requiring the Postal Service to comply with its 

obligations under 39 U.S.C. § 404(d) and 39 C.F.R. Part 241. 

The Postal Service responds that (1) this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear Counts Two, 

Four, and Five; (2) Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim for which relief can be granted with 

respect to Counts Three and Four; and (3) Plaintiffs do not have a private right of action for 

Count Two and, regardless, the Postal Service has complied with that which the NHPA would 

have required; and (4) the Postal Service has complied with any obligations under NEPA. 

IV. Case Management Plan 
 
 A. Standing Order on Scheduling in Civil Cases. 
 

The parties recognize the Court’s standard form for Rule 26(f) reports includes a section 

for discussion of undisputed material facts.  Given the current procedural posture—where the 

Court has already considered briefing on a motion for a preliminary injunction—and the issues 

discussed below, the parties have foregone the recitation of facts here. 
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The Postal Service has raised threshold jurisdictional and legal questions that could 

narrow the claims before the Court and should be resolved before the parties dedicate any 

resources to the question of potential discovery.  The Postal Service notes that, jurisdictional and 

legal questions aside, any judicial review of the merits of Counts One and Two would be based 

upon an administrative record, recognizing certain limited exceptions thereto. 

Further, on October 28, 2013, the Court issued an order preliminarily enjoining the Postal 

Service from selling or otherwise conveying title to the Atlantic Street Station pending further 

order from the Court.  See Ruling Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion for a Preliminary Injunction (Oct. 

28, 2013, ECF No. 52).  The Court based the preliminary injunction, in part, on what it viewed as 

Plaintiffs’ likelihood to succeed on the merits of their NEPA claim.  See id. at 19–29.  The Court 

concluded that the record then before the Court did not support the Postal Service’s 

determination that a Postal Service categorical exclusion applied to the disposal of the Atlantic 

Street Station.  See id. at 25–26.  The Court also concluded that Plaintiffs were not likely to 

prevail on the merits of their claims under the NHPA.  See id. at 16–19. 

Also on October 28, 2013, the Court issued an order discharging a notice of lis pendens 

that Plaintiffs had filed with respect to title for the Atlantic Street Station.  See Ruling & Order 

on Application for Discharge of Notice of Lis Pendens (Oct. 28, 2013, ECF No. 53).  The Court 

found that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Count Four, which had formed the basis for 

the Notice.  Id. at 5–8. 

 Since the Court’s decision on the preliminary injunction, the Postal Service has decided 

to revisit its NEPA review for the Atlantic Street Station.  As that additional review is now on-

going, it would be premature to proceed with resolving Count One at this time.  The parties 
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therefore request a stay of any claims that are not subject to the Postal Service’s motion to 

dismiss. 

The parties request modification of the deadlines in the Standing Order on Scheduling in 

Civil Cases as follows: 

(1) The Postal Service will file any motion to dismiss on or before November 26, 
2013. 

 
(2) Plaintiffs will file their response to the motion to dismiss on or before December 

19, 2013. 
 

(3) The Postal Service’s reply in support of its motion to dismiss will be filed on or 
before January 7, 2014. 

 
(4) Within ten days of an order resolving the Postal Service’s motion to dismiss, the 

parties will confer and present a management plan to the Court on how to proceed 
with any remaining claims. 

 
(5) Any claims that are not the subject of the Postal Service’s motion to dismiss are 

hereby stayed.  The Postal Service will submit a status report no later January 15, 
2014.   At that time, the parties will confer and discuss the filing of the 
administrative record, methods for addressing any of Plaintiffs’ concerns 
regarding that record, and a schedule for summary judgment briefing. 

 
B. Scheduling Conference with the Court 

 
A telephonic scheduling conference is already on the calendar for November 12, 2013, at 

3:00 p.m. 

 C. Early Settlement Conference 
 
 Counsel held a preliminary discussion regarding potential settlement during the meet and 

confer on November 5, 2013, and are continuing to confer with their respective clients on the 

topic.  Counsel will continue to discuss settlement possibilities if and when they arise, but at this 

time the parties do not request an early settlement conference.  
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D. Joinder of Parties and Amendment of Pleadings 
 
 The parties currently do not believe that joinder of additional parties will be required.  

Plaintiffs filed an Amended Complaint on October 9, 2013.  As detailed above, the Postal 

Service intends to file a motion to partially dismiss in response.  Plaintiffs reserve the right to 

seek leave to further amend their complaint. 

 E. Discovery 
 
 With respect to Counts Three, Four, and Five, the parties believe threshold jurisdictional 

and legal questions regarding the viability of those claims need to be resolved before discussing 

any potential discovery with respect to those claims.  With respect to Counts One and Two, 

because any judicial review of the merits those claims would be conducted on the Postal 

Service’s administrative record, no discovery is necessary in this forum. 

 F. Dispositive Motions 
 
 As set forth above, the Postal Service’s motion to dismiss will be filed on or before 

November 26, 2013.  Should that motion be denied, in whole or in part, the parties would 

address any further dispositive briefing (e.g., summary judgment) in their subsequent case 

management proposal to the Court.  As judicial review of Counts One and Two will be based 

upon the administrative record, those claims would also be resolved through summary judgment.  

The parties will propose a briefing schedule for resolving those claims, if necessary, at a later 

date. 

 G. Joint Trial Memorandum 
 
 Given the above, it is currently premature to identify a date for any joint trial 

memorandum. 
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V. Trial Readiness 
 
 As judicial review of Counts One and Two will be based upon the administrative record, 

those claims would be resolved, if necessary, via summary judgment.  Given the need to resolve 

the threshold jurisdictional and legal issues with respect to Counts Three, Four, and Five, it is 

premature to identify a trial date for those claims. 

 

 As officers of the Court, undersigned counsel agree to cooperate with each other and the 

Court to promote the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of this action. 

 

Plaintiff 

By:__s/ Harold J. Hughes_____________ Date:_11-06-13____________ 
 [signed with authorization granted on 11-05-13] 
 

Defendant 

By:__s/ Kristofor R. Swanson_____________ Date:_11-06-13________________ 
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